	Individual Action Plan Update for Korea for 2016

	
Highlights of recent policy developments which indicate how Korea is progressing towards the Bogor Goals and key challenges it faces in its efforts to meet the Goals. 

	


	IAP Chapter (and Sub-Chapter and Section Heading, if any) 
	Improvements made since  2014 IAP 
	Further Improvements Planned 

	Tariffs
	( Korea has completed implementation of the 2012 APEC Leaders commitment of reducing tariffs on 54 environmental goods (HS 6 digit) by reducing applied tariffs on 85 tariff lines (HS 10 digits)  to 5% on December 30 2015. Tariff reduction is  effective as of 1 January 2016. 
	( Korea will eliminate tariffs on 201 information technology goods, under the expanded Information Technology Agreement(ITA).

	Website for further information:  
	Korea Customs Service(www.customs.go.kr) 
	

	Contact point for further details:
	Ministry of Strategy and Finance

Customs Organization Team
Tel)  +82-44-215-4463
	

	Non-Tariff Measures 
Non-tariff measures include but are not restricted to quantitative import/export restrictions/prohibitions, import/export levies, minimum import prices, discretionary import/export licensing, voluntary export restraints and export subsidies
	( No major changes were introduced since Korea’s latest notification in 2012 to the WTO on quantitative restrictions 

of 92 items (at the HS6 or HS10 level). Details can be found in WTO document G/MA/QR/N/KOR/1.
( Korea submitted its  instrument of acceptance of the newly adopted Trade Facilitation Agreement on July 30th, 2015, becoming the 10th WTO member that has ratified the TFA.

	

	Website for further information:  
	Ministry of Trade, Industry and Energy (www.motie.go.kr)
	

	Contact point for further details: 
	Ministry of Trade, Industry and Energy
WTO Division

Tel) +82-44-203-5631
	

	Services
	(  As part of the efforts to enhance the competitiveness of its service industries, Korea further liberalized the service sector beyond its WTO commitments through subsequent FTAs  with the US, EU, Australia, New Zealand and China. 

	

	Website for further information:  
	Ministry of Trade, Industry and Energy (www.motie.go.kr) 
	

	Contact point for further details:
	Ministry of Trade, Industry and Energy

Multilateral Trade Cooperation Division

Tel) +82-44-203-5641
	

	Investment 


	(  Korea has made continuous efforts to make regulatory environment more business-friendly and to improve incentive system for attracting Foreign Direct Investment.
(  Such efforts include the followings; 

· Foreign Investment Promotion Act was amended  to simplify procedures, including those for FDI notification and registration (amended in January, 2016).  

· Enforcement Decree of the Foreign Investment Promotion Act was amended to provide incentives to  headquarters of global business and R&D centers (amended in October, 2014).
· A regulatory information portal was opened in July 2015 to support foreign-invested companies and help resolve their greivances. 
- Regular meetings among officers from the 21 government agencies have been held to help resolve difficulties that the foreign investors are facing since June, 2015.  
	( Reviewing restricted areas for foreign investment. Korean government will review the scope and definition of restricted areas stipulated in the Foreign Investment Promotion Acts, aligning with domestic laws of individual sectors and FTAs.

	Website for further information:  
	Invest Korea (www.investkorea.org)

Foreing investment Ombudsman (www.i-ombudsman.or.kr)
	

	Contact point for further details:
	Ministry of Trade, Industry and Energy
Foreign Investment Policy Division
Tel)  +82-44-203-4074
	

	Standards and Conformance


	( As of December 2015,  13,359 out of 20,582 standards in total are harmonized with corresponding international standards.

* Rate of adoption : 66.8%

* Rate of harmonization : 97.1%

( Regulatory coordination has been made to evaluate whether technical regulations governed by all relevant authorities and government agencies are harmonized with international standards, and to identify overlapping technical regulations at the national level.

( "Special Act on Safety of Children’s Products" was enacted to ensure safety management of those products in June 2015.
( As of December 2015, Korea is participating in 739 ISO TC/SCs and 179 IEC TC/SCs.  Korea is serving as the Secretariat for 15 ISO TC/SCs and 4 IEC TC/SCs.
( Korea actively participated in ISO and IEC Governance  such as ISO Council(2010~2016), TMB(2009~2011, 2012~2014, 2016~2018), IEC CB(2009~2011, 2012~2014, 2015~2017), SMB(2009~2011, 2012~2014, 2015~2017), CAB(2010~2017), MSB(2012~2017). In particular, Korea successfully organized the ISO General Assembly in September, 2015.


	

	Website for further information:  
	Korean Agency for Technology and Standards (www.kats.go.kr)

Korean Network on World TBT (www.knowtbt.kr)

KC(Korea Certification) Mark ( http://safetykorea.kr/)
	

	Contact point for further details:
	Korean Agency for Technology and Standards
Inernational Standards Division 
Tel)  +82-43-870-5354
	

	Customs Procedures


	(  Korea concluded AEO MRAs with Mexico, Hong Kong, Turkey, Israel, Dominican republic, India, and Chinese Taipei.
(  To support trade facilitation through e-commerce, Korea newly established the simplified export scheme in 2014, which requires 33 details in the export declaration, reduced from 57 details. Additionally, Korea has set up a system (export declaration platform) which automatically converts information on overseas orders and sales of e-commerce businesses into export declarations and has been providing the service since November 2015. 

(  For enhanced trade safety, the Korea Customs Service has established a joint inspection scheme with 4 government agencies responsible for safety  inspection (Korea Agency for Technology and Standards, Ministry of Environment, Ministry of Employment and Labor, and Ministry of Food and Drug Safety) and has prepared applicable  provisions about safety inspection during the clearance process (Article 246.3 of the Customs Act).
(The Korea Customs Service has the authority to conduct inspections on  imports in Korea.)
(  Korea established ‘YES FTA Center’ in 2014 to support importers and exporters in their utilization of FTAs. 
Additionally in 2015, with an aim of seamless implementation of the Korea-China FTA, Korea established the ‘Electronic Origin Data Exchange System (EODES)’ between KCS(Korea customs service) and GACC(General Administration of customs of the People’s Republic of China) to reduce clearance time for imports and exports and to prevent illegal and illicit trade.
	( Korea is working towards concluding AEO MRAs with other countries including Thailand and Peru. 

( For safety management on imports, in addition to the 4 government agencies for joint inspection, Korea will  make continued efforts to expand the scope of government entities involved and the number of items for joint inspections, form a ‘committee of safety management agencies on imports and exports’ for regular joint inspection to set up a mechanism for sharing information between government agencies, conduct specialized training programs for capacity building, and produce a manual for cooperation standards.   
(  Electronic Origin Data Exchange System (EODES) between KCS(Korea customs service) and GACC(General Administration of customs of the People’s Republic of China) will be carried out in the 2016 as a pilot project, and from the second half of 2016 full-fledged data exchange will be implemented.

	Website for further information:  
	Korea Customs Service (www.customs.go.kr)
	

	Contact point for further details:
	Korea Customs Service

Multilateral  Cooperation Division

Tel)  +82-42-481-7968

	

	Intellectual Property Rights


	( Article 24 bis of Copyright Act of Korea came into force on July 1, 2014 to make more of works created by domestic public organizations to be subject to free use.

( Korea ratified 『Marrakesh Treaty to Facilitate Access to Published Works Who are Blind, Visually Impaired, or Otherwise Print-Disabled』 on October 8, 2015.

(  The Patent Act and the Utility Model Act were amended in 2014 (with the revisions having taken effect in January 2015) to enhance applicant convenience and allow patent applications to be filed not only in Korean but also in English. It also eased formality requirements for submitting descriptions during the filing stage, allowing such documents as pages from lab notebooks or research journals to be used to obtain a filing date. Moreover, starting in July 2015, the declaration period for a grace period, which previously ended at the time of filing, was extended to the time of the grant. It also became possible to file a divisional application up until the time of grant, even after an examiner has already  sent a notice of  grant (registration). Korea’s Examination Guideline of Patent and utility model was also amended in line with the aforementioned Acts.

(  After amendments to the Trademark Act for the first time in 23 years (effective as of July 2014), trademark examination guideline was also amended. These amendments allowed for the rearrangement of previous legal provisions by classifying them according to “part, chapter, and number,” and to update other examples and cases, thus ensuring that trademark examination guideline is easy to understand and that examinations are properly conducted in accordance with the fundamental purpose of the trademark system. Furthermore, a new chapter for non-tradtional trademarks (such as sounds and scent marks) was implemented in the examination guideline.

( In response to the amended Design Protection Act (which took effect in July 2014), design examination guideline was also amended. Applicant convenience was enhanced by allowing up to 100 designs in a multiple design application, and the grounds for granting re-examination requests were also expanded. Also, applicants were enabled to submit evidentiary documents of claims for exception to lack of novelty at the same time they submitted opinions, oppositions, and requests for invalidation trials. Finally, a time limit  (one year from the filing date of the principal design) was introduced in regard to the application  of related designs.
Provisions for implementing the Geneva Act of the Hague Agreement Concerning the International Registration of Industrial Designs were also introduced (effective as of July 2014).
(  Reflecting the expectation that cross-border litigation against a national corporation would increase due to the entry into force of the Korea-EU and Korea-US FTAs, the Civil Enforcement Act, which had provided for the recognition and enforcement of only foreign court judgments against a national corporation, was amended in May 2014. The amended Act provides for the recognition and enforcement of not only foreign court judgments but also other court decisions recognized as having the equivalent effect as those judgments. 
	

	Website for further information:
	( Ministry of Culture, Sports and Tourism (www.mcst.go.kr)
( Ministry of Justice (www.moj.go.kr)

( Korean Intellectual Property Office (www.kipo.go.kr)
	

	Contact point for further details:
	Ministry of Culture, Sports and Tourism
Copyright Policy Division
Tel) +82-44-203-2476
Korean Intellectual Property Office
Multilateral Affairs Division
Tel) +82-42-481-8565
Ministry of Justice

International Legal Affairs Division 

Tel) +82-2-2110-4243
	

	Competition Policy


	( In 2014, Korea introduced a  provision that prohibits new circular equity investment and made publicly available the current situation of circular shareholding in Korea. 
( In 2014, the KFTC pursued policies to root out anti-competitive conducts such as cartels, anticompetitive M&As, abuse of dominance and unfair trade practices. In 2014, the KFTC imposed measures(tougher than warning) on 76 cartel cases and 122 unfair trade practices. The KFTC also conducted in-depth reviews on 27 M&A cases, imposing behavioral sanction against one case and blocking another one.  
( In order to promote competition in the market, Korea has put in continuous efforts to improve anti-competitive regulations and to prevent them from being introduced. In 2014, the KFTC reviewed a total 614 regulations(246 bills) and proposed its opinion that 15 regulations were anti-competitive. Nine out of the 15 regulations were withdrawn or improved. 

( The KFTC concluded MOUs with competition authorities of Indonesia(2013), Brazil(2014), Japan(2014) and the U.S.(2015), laying the groundwork for strengthening an international cooperation network with its partners.
	

	Website for further information:
	Korea Fair Trade Commission (http://eng.ftc.go.kr)
	

	Contact point for further details:
	Korea Fair Trade Commission

International Cooperation Division 

Tel) +82-44-200-4325
	

	Government Procurement

	( Korea ratified the revised WTO GPA in December, 2015, which took effect in January 2016. Under the revised GPA, additional public entities are covered, including 51 municipalities. Service procurement by 25 public enterprises are are newly added to the coverage as well. 

( Korea has made further  liberalization in the area of government procurement through bilateral FTAs such as Korea- Australia FTA(effective as of December 2014), Korea-New Zealand FTA(effective as of December 2015) and Korea-Canada FTA(effective as of January 2015, with government procurement chapter separately entering into force in January 2016).
( Korea began to provide public procurement data through Open API, to facilitate data processing for better business intelligence. The data available through Open API at the government's public data portal (www.data.go.kr) includes tender notices, contract awards, contract information, advance notices of procurement speficications, etc.
( Korea established the Public Procurement Data System in 2014, to better collect and manage data and statistics on public procurement across the whole public sector, including central government, local governments and public enterprises.   

	( Korea implements "advance notice of procurement specifications" policy in January 2016. This policy requires central and local government entities to dislose preliminary specifications for tender for 5 to 10 days prior to the official announcement of tender. During the advance notice period, prospective bidders are given the opportunity to challenge the specifications for elements, if any, that may obstruct fair competition.

	Website for further information:  
	Public Procurement Service (www.pps.go.kr)
Ministry of Strategy and Finance(www.mosf.go.kr)
	

	Contact point for further details:
	Ministry of Strategy and Finance

Public Contract and Procurement Policy Division

Tel)+82-44-215-5215 

Public Procurement Service
International Cooperation Division
Tel) +82-70-4056-7470
	

	Deregulation/Regulatory Review


	• Improvement has been made in streamlining core regulations that could have large impacts on investment and job creation.

• In accordance with the “Three-year National Plan for Economic Innovation”, which was announced in January 15 2014, 995 regulatory barriers were lifted in 2014.

• In order to remove overly burdensome regulations with  negative impacts on economy, Korean government has introduced  several initiatives, such as “Regulatory Guillotine”, “Thorn under the Nail ” and “Regulatory Reform Sin-Moo-Go”.
	• The government will try to shift the basic methodology of  regulatory review from the quantity-oriented approach to quality-oriented one. Along this line, the government will continue to implement ‘Cost-in, Cost-out’ system.  Under this system, when a government agency introduces a new or  more strengthened regulation than before, it is required  to relax or remove other regulations. 

• The government will continue to improve core regulations that do not duly reflect  the realities of emerging and multiple convergence industries as well as service industries.   

• The government will adopt several initiatives for SMEs, such as Red Tape Challenge, Micro-Bisiness Moratorium and Reducing Regulatory Burdens on Small Businesses.

	Website for further information:  
	Information Portal for Regulatory Reform (www.better.go.kr)
	

	Contact point for further details:
	Regulatory Reform Bureau, Prime Minister’s Office
Tel) +82-44-200-2431
	

	Implementation of WTO Obligations/ROOs 


	( Korea has made 271 notifications under WTO Agreements, including the Agreement on TRIPs, TBT, SPS, Subsidies and Countervailing Measures, Rules of Origin, Agriculture, Government Procurement , Implementation of Article 6, 17:4, 24:7 of the GATT 1994, 5:7 of the GATS and the CTG Decision for Quantitative Restrictions Notification during  the reporting period(2014-15).

	( Korea will hold WTO Trade Policy Review in October 2016.

( Korea will continue to actively and constructively engage in the efforts to promote further liberalization and keep supporting the rules-based multilateral trading system, in accordance with the outcome of the 10th WTO Ministerial Decision.

	Website for further information:  
	Ministry of Trade, Industry and Energy (www.motie.go.kr)
	

	Contact point for further details:
	Ministry of Trade, Industry and Energy

World Trade Organization Division

Tel) +82-44-203-5630

	

	Dispute Resolution
	(  Korea has been actively engaged in the WTO dispute settlement procedures to resolve its trade disputes in the multilateral forum.  2 complaints have been brought by Korea and 1 complaint have been brought against Korea between 2014 and 2015.  
(  Furthermore, Korea has actively participated in the DSU review negotiation whose mandate is to clarify and improve the procedural law of the WTO dispute settlement mechanism by submitting various proposals.
	

	Website for further information:  
	Ministry of Trade, Industry and Energy (www.motie.go.kr)
	

	Contact point for further details:
	Ministry of Trade, Industry and Energy

Trade Dispute Settelment Division

Tel) +82-44-203-5770
	

	Mobility of Business People


	( With the aim of expanding APEC Business Travel Card(ABTC) issuance, Korea eased issuance requirements for small scale enterprises in September 2015. 
( In March 2015, Korea started to provide more streamlined immigration procedure to business travellers by  allowing foreign investors to use exclusive lanes at International airports.
( Korea has implemented the mutual use of automated immigration clearance service  with U.S. and Hong Kong during the reporting period(2014-2015). 

( Korea introduced a Point System for the issuance of visa to technology-based Start Ups in March, 2015. 
	( Korea plans to  allow a 30 day no visa entry to transit passengers who hold a designated country visa and is bound for a third country.
( Korea plans to expand mutual use of automated immigration clearance service between nations by concluding MOUs with Macau Special Administrative Region of the People's Republic of China. 

( Korea plans to ease requirements for International Trade visa to further facilitate the entry of foreign investors and business people.  



	Website for further information:  
	Korea Immigration Service(www.immigration.go.kr)
	

	Contact point for further details:
	Border Control Division, Korea Immigration Service

(TEL:+82-2-2110-4043)
	

	Official websites that gather economies’ information


	Ministry of Trade, Industry and Energy (www.motie.go.kr) 

Ministry of Strategy and Finance (www.mosf.go.kr)
Ministry of Foreign Affairs (www.mofa.go.kr) 
	


	RTAs/FTAs  



	- Description of current   agreements
	 As of January 2016, Korea has concluded 15 FTAs,  including five new agreements signed and entered into force during the last two years.
Korea-Australia FTA was signed on April 8, 2014 and entered into force on December 12, 2014. Korea-Canada FTA was signed on September 23, 2014 and entered into force on January 1, 2015. Korea-China FTA was signed on June 1, 2015 and entered into force on December 20, 2015. Korea-New Zealand FTA was signed on March 23, 2015 and entered into force on December 20, 2015. Korea-Vietnam FTA was signed on May 5, 2015 and entered into force on December 20, 2015.

In addition, Korea and Turkey signed an expansion of their 2013 FTA on trade in goods to include services and investment on February 26, 2015.

	- Agreements under negotiation
	RCEP, Korea-China-Japan FTA, Korea-Central America FTA, Korea-Ecuador SECA

	- Future plans


	Korea will continue its active participation in the regional economic integration process in the Asia-Pacific region and pursue win-win FTAs with emerging economies. Korea also seeks to upgrade its existing FTAs to reflect the modern trade environment.

	Website for further information:  
	Free Trade Agreement (www.fta.go.kr); Ministry of Trade, Industry and Energy (english.motie.go.kr)

	Contact point for further details:
	Ministry of Trade, Industry and Energy
FTA Policy Planning Division
Tel) +82-44-203-5742
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